Cheshire East Council DRAFT Annual Governance Statement 2011/12

Introduction

Cheshire East Council, like all local government bodies, is responsible for ensuring that its business is conducted in accordance with the law and proper standards, and that public money is safeguarded and properly accounted for, and used economically, efficiently and effectively. The development of a Code of Corporate Governance, consistent with the principles and requirements of the CIPFA/SOLACE Framework 'Delivering Good Governance in Local Government' helps to ensure proper arrangements are in place to meet that responsibility. Cheshire East Council adopted a Code of Corporate Governance in 2009 and this is subject to annual review, and update, where necessary.

The Council undertakes an annual review of its governance arrangements to ensure continuing compliance with best practice as set out in the Framework. This Annual Governance Statement (AGS) is that review.

It is important that the AGS is reported on both within the Authority, to the Audit Committee or other appropriate member body, and externally with the published accounts, to provide assurance that:

- governance arrangements are adequate and operating effectively in practice, or
- where reviews of the governance arrangements have revealed gaps, action is planned that will ensure effective governance in future.

The process of preparing the governance statement itself adds value to the corporate governance and internal framework of the Council. Both officer and Member involvement in the drafting process ensures that the document is robust and reflective of the Authority's governance and internal control arrangements for 2011/12.

Contents

<u>Section 1</u> <u>Cheshire East Council's Governance Framework</u>

- Scope of responsibility
- The purpose of the governance framework
- The governance framework
 - The Authority/Constitution
 - The Cabinet/Other Committees
 - Audit & Governance Committee
 - Scrutiny Committees
 - Standards Committee
 - Internal Audit
 - External Audit and Inspection
 - Chief Financial Officer (Director of Finance and Business Services)
 - Monitoring Officer (Borough Solicitor)
 - Management Assurance
 - Performance Management

Section 2 Review of effectiveness against the core principles

- Principle 1 Focusing on the purpose of the Authority and on outcomes for the community and creating and implementing a vision for the local areas
- Principle 2 Members and officers working together to achieve a common purpose with clearly defined functions and roles
- Principle 3 Promoting the values of the authority and demonstrating the values of good governance through upholding high standards of conduct and behaviour
- Principle 4 Taking informed and transparent decisions which are subject to effective scrutiny and managing risks
- Principle 5 Developing the capacity and capability of members and officers to be effective
- Principle 6 Engaging with local people and other stakeholders to ensure robust public accountability

Section 3 Significant governance issues and Action Plan

<u>Section 1</u> Cheshire East Council's Governance Framework

Scope of responsibility

- Cheshire East Council is responsible for ensuring that its business is conducted in accordance with the law and proper standards, and that public money is safeguarded and properly accounted for, and used economically, efficiently and effectively. Cheshire East Council also has a duty under the Local Government Act 1999 to make arrangements to secure continuous improvement in the way in which its functions are exercised, having regard to a combination of economy, efficiency and effectiveness.
- In discharging this overall responsibility, Cheshire East Council is responsible for putting in place proper arrangements for the governance of its affairs, facilitating the effective exercise of its functions, and which includes arrangements for the management of risk.
- 3 Cheshire East Council has approved and adopted a Code of Corporate Governance, which is consistent with the principles of the CIPFA/SOLACE Framework Delivering Good Governance in Local Government. A copy of the code is on our website at Code of Corporate Governance.
- This statement explains how Cheshire East Council has complied with the code and also meets the requirements of Regulation 4 (3) of the Accounts and Audit (England) Regulations 2011.

The purpose of the Governance Framework

- The governance framework comprises the systems and processes, and culture and values, by which the authority is directed and controlled and its activities through which it accounts to, engages with and leads the community. It enables the authority to monitor the achievement of its strategic objectives and to consider whether those objectives have led to the delivery of appropriate, cost effective services.
- The system of internal control is a significant part of that framework and is designed to manage risk to a reasonable level. It cannot eliminate all risk of failure to achieve policies, aims and objectives and can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of effectiveness. The system of internal control is based on an ongoing process designed to identify and prioritise the risks to the achievement of Cheshire East Council's policies, aims and objectives, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised and the impact should they be realised, and to manage them efficiently, effectively and economically.

The Governance Framework

- 7 The governance framework has been in place at Cheshire East Council for the year ended 31 March 2012 and up to the date of approval of the annual report and statement of accounts.
- The process that has been applied in maintaining and reviewing the effectiveness of the governance framework is as follows:
 - The Authority/Constitution
 - The Cabinet/Other Committees
 - Audit & Governance Committee
 - Scrutiny Committees
 - Standards Committee
 - Internal Audit
 - External Audit and Inspection
 - Chief Financial Officer
 - Monitoring Officer
 - Management Assurance
 - Performance Management

The Authority/Constitution

- The Council has formally adopted a <u>Constitution</u> last updated in April 2012. The Constitution Committee, with other appropriate Members, and senior Officers, monitor and review the Constitution to make sure that its aims and principles are given full effect. Changes to the Constitution are approved by full Council after consideration of the proposal by the Constitution Committee.
- All Councillors meet together a number of times each year as the full <u>Council</u> to set the Council's major plans, policies, strategies and the budget, take decisions required by law or where the Council decides that collective decisions should be taken.

The Cabinet/Other Committees

- The Council has appointed a <u>Cabinet</u> and a number of <u>committees</u> to make decisions. Many of the Council's decisions are made by the Council's Cabinet, Cabinet committees, or officers acting on its behalf. Other decisions, such as planning and licensing decisions, have to be made by committees of the Council, or officers acting on their behalf. The decision making framework has been developed in accordance with the requirements of the law.
- The Cabinet meets formally at least once per month, to deal collectively with the high level operational and more strategic business, including key decisions of the Authority. Additionally, the Cabinet has adopted a scheme of delegation to the individual <u>Cabinet Members</u>, so that they are able to take decisions as appropriate within their portfolio responsibility.

Audit & Governance Committee

- The <u>Audit and Governance Committee</u> plays a key role in the review of the effectiveness of the governance framework by seeking assurance on the adequacy of the Council's risk management, control and governance arrangements and monitoring the AGS action plan. During 2011/12, the Chair and Vice Chair of the Committee, with the Audit Managers, assessed the effectiveness of the system of internal audit using the following checklists:
 - compliance with the Code of Practice for Internal Audit in Local Government in the United Kingdom 2006
 - self-assessment measuring the Effectiveness of the Audit Committee. This was reported to and agreed by the Audit and Governance Committee.
- 14 The Corporate Governance Group (CGG) is an officer group chaired by the Section 151 Officer, with membership including the Monitoring Officer and Head of Service representation from Finance, HR and Internal Audit. The group undertakes an ongoing review of the Council's governance arrangements and identifies collects and challenges supporting evidence as part of the annual review to feed into the production of the AGS. It reports its findings to the Audit and Governance committee after consideration by the Corporate Management Team. CGG met five times during 2011/12.
- The Audit and Governance Committee critically review the Statement of Accounts, the AGS and the supporting documentation and, in considering whether to approve the Statement, seeks to satisfy itself that Management has obtained relevant and reliable evidence to support the disclosures made.

Scrutiny Committees

- There have been six <u>Scrutiny and Overview Committees</u> operating during 2011/12; Adult Social Care, Children and Families, Corporate Scrutiny, Environment and Prosperity, Health and Wellbeing and Sustainable Communities.
- The role of the Committees includes not just 'holding the Cabinet to account' but also carrying out advisory work on policy development (the 'Overview' function). Each of these Scrutiny Committees meets a minimum of six times during the year. Additional meetings may be required, to deal with unplanned business such as the "call in" of particular Cabinet decisions, ad hoc requests by the Cabinet to undertake policy development work, and specific proposals identified by non Executive Members.

Standards Committee

- The <u>Standards Committee</u> promotes high standards of ethical behaviour by developing, maintaining and monitoring codes of Conduct for Members of the Council (including Co-opted Members and other persons acting in a similar capacity) and for employees in accordance with best practice and Government guidance. The Standards Committee has formed three Sub-Committees to deal with the initial assessment of any complaints raised against Members; review of decisions whether or not to investigate; and to conduct hearings.
- Between April 2011 and March 2012, the Committee has considered ten complaints in total, two against members of Cheshire East Council and eight against members of the Borough's Town and Parish Councils. Of these complaints, four have been referred for formal investigation, with no further action taken on the remaining six.
- The coming into force of the Localism Act 2011 on 1 November 2011 has changed the way in which local authorities will deal with complaints. Whilst the Act will still expect Councils to promote and maintain high standards of conduct by Councillors and co-opted members and the Town and Parish Councils in its areas, there will be no requirement to appoint a Standards Committee. Therefore, following the council meeting on 19 July 2012 future conduct issues will be dealt with by an ad hoc sub committee of the Audit and Governance Committee.

Internal Audit

- 21 The Council's Internal Audit Service produces and delivers against a risk-based Annual Plan, approved by the Audit and Governance Committee, in accordance with the CIPFA 'Code of Practice for Internal Audit in Local Government in the United Kingdom 2006'. The Head of Internal Audit (currently vacant) reports progress against the Plan and the service's individual performance targets to the Audit and Governance Committee throughout the year.
- The Internal Audit Annual Report for 2011/12 will be presented to the Audit & Governance Committee at its June 2012 meeting. The report concludes the formal Internal Audit opinion that the Council has established a satisfactory framework of risk management, control and governance. This provides adequate assurance over the Council's control environment, with control weaknesses identified during audits and/or by management addressed or being addressed.

External Audit and Inspection

During 2011/12, the Council has undergone an inspection by the Audit Commission (Annual Audit Letter 2010/11). The Council's External Auditors (The Audit Commission), annually reviews the financial aspects of corporate governance, including the work of Internal Audit. In carrying out this work the Commission seeks assurance that the systems of financial control are in place and operating effectively. This includes a review of the Council's key financial systems in order to establish that they operate soundly and that there are no fundamental breakdowns in controls that

- would result in material discrepancies. Grant Thornton will become the Council's new External Auditors as from 1st September 2012.
- An OFSTED inspection of the Council's Safeguarding and Looked After Children role was carried out in June/July 2011 with the subsequent report giving an 'adequate' assessment. An improvement plan was agreed by the Children & Families Scrutiny Committee in September 2011.
- The <u>Local Government Ombudsman's Annual Review</u> for the year ended 31st March 2011 was reported to the Audit and Governance Committee in September 2011. Of the 50 enquiries which were formally investigated, the Ombudsman found that, in 95% of the cases, there was no evidence of maladministration or injustice to the complainant. In the remaining 5% of the cases, Local Settlements were reached.

Chief Financial Officer

- The roles and responsibilities of the Chief Financial Officer are outlined in the Constitution, along with their appointment as the Section 151 officer.
- The Chief Financial Officer (Director of Finance & Business Services) attends Corporate Management Team, Cabinet and Council to provide direct input on all key decisions and is consulted on and signs off financial input to all Committee reports.

Monitoring Officer

The Borough Solicitor is formally appointed as the Monitoring Officer and their roles and responsibilities are set out in the Constitution.

Management Assurance

- The Council's Corporate Management Team provides strategic advice to the Council and co-ordinates the Council's activities to ensure high standards of performance.
- Formal assurance with regard to the governance framework is provided by Directors, Heads of Service and Service Managers who independently sign off on the adequacy of controls within their service areas, including joint working arrangements, via disclosure statements. Furthermore, designated officers complete Annual Governance Statement self-assessments in order to determine the extent to which the Council complies with the principles of good governance contained within its local code.

Performance Management

There is a defined performance management process beginning with the Business Plan, linked to service plans, team plans and then individual performance and

- development plans. This is supported by an electronic performance management system; CorVu.
- The performance reporting framework includes monthly reporting to Corporate Management Team and informal Cabinet with quarterly reporting and a quarterly challenge discussion between the Leader, Chief Executive and relevant Portfolio Holder and Director.
- We have been advised on the implications of the result of the review of the effectiveness of the governance framework by the Audit and Governance Committee, and a plan to address weaknesses and ensure continuous improvement of the system is in place.



Section 2 Review of effectiveness

Cheshire East Council has responsibility for conducting, at least annually, a review of the effectiveness of its governance framework including the system of internal control. The review of effectiveness is informed by the work of the executive managers within the authority who have responsibility for the development and maintenance of the governance environment, the Head of Internal Audit's annual report, and also by comments made by the external auditors and other review agencies and inspectorates.

The six principles of Cheshire East Council's governance framework, as set out in the Authority's <u>Code of Corporate Governance</u> are outlined below, along with a brief description of arrangements and an assessment of the effectiveness of those arrangements during 2011/12.

Principle 1 Focusing on the purpose of the authority and on outcomes for the community and creating and implementing a vision

- 1.1 Exercising strategic leadership by developing and clearly communicating the Authority's purpose and vision and its intended outcome for citizens and service users
 - The Authority's Business Plan 2012-15, 'Ambition, Action, Achievement' integrates financial and service planning at a corporate level, setting out priorities and targets for the next three years, linked to Cheshire East's Sustainable Community Strategy, 'Ambition for All'.
 - The Council's vision and Sustainable Community Strategy was subject to extensive consultation in Spring 2010 leading to approval of the Strategy in July 2010. The vision has been revisited and remains as 'Working together to improve community life'.
 - Assessment criteria have been developed and applied to identify the Authority's Significant Partnerships, and a self assessment governance questionnaire has been completed by responsible officers. The findings from these questionnaires will also be used to inform the development of a Partnerships Protocol to provide further support and guidance on joint working arrangements. A Partnerships Register is being developed and alongside the Protocol will be used as the basis of an internal audit review of Partnerships governance.
 - Arrangements for the publication of the annual financial statements meet statutory requirements. There is on-going dialogue with the Audit Commission to address <u>issues raised</u> during the audit of the <u>2010/11 accounts</u>.
 - The Council will be producing its Annual Report in July 2012, highlighting key achievements of the Authority against its planned actions.

1.2 Ensuring that users receive a high quality of service whether directly, or in partnership, by commissioning

- A VFM Strategy was developed for the 2012/15 Business Planning process and the Business Plan now integrates reporting on corporate priorities with the budget, so that allocation of resources and service delivery priorities are more clearly linked. Audit Commission benchmarking data was used to inform the Business Planning process planning/challenge sessions and a positive VFM opinion was given in the 2010/11 accounts.
- The CorVu performance system was implemented during 2011/12 to allow tracking and reporting on key performance data.
- The Council has a <u>Corporate Complaints</u> procedure, supported by a database to record and monitor complaints. Performance data on the time it takes to respond to complaints and the number of complaints escalated to the Ombudsman are reported quarterly. The Council participates in the Local Government Benchmark Group that provides mystery shopping on a half yearly basis. The <u>Citizen's Panel</u> provides insight into overall satisfaction with the way Council runs things, and provides more detailed insight such as on 'contacting the Council'.

1.3 Ensuring that the authority makes best use of resources and that taxpayers and service users receive excellent value for money

- A VFM Strategy is in place which incorporates the corporate approach and its relevance to services. It includes an agreed approach to benchmarking and has been endorsed by Corporate Management Team. The business planning group meets on a weekly basis to discuss process and also the input to the budget setting process around benchmarking data, corporate challenge and key financial indicators. The efficiency requirements focused on those areas that were deemed to provide least value for money.
- The Council is continuing to improve its processes and is reviewing the approach to achieving value for money. A revised VFM Strategy will accompany the Business Planning Process for 2013/2016 and consider links to the Sustainable Community Strategy. Increasing cost drivers, such as social care, continue to be a feature of the Council's Budget and further work is underway to establish the basis for these costs and the options for providing services in the future with limited funding sources.
- The intention is that understanding the options available, and their impact, in terms of capital, one off revenue expenditure and organisational capacity, set against the Council's priorities and performance targets, will enable Cabinet Members and Corporate Management Team to set a "direction". That will determine which of the options can be explored in more detail and which will need to be delayed. This work will include consideration of alternative service delivery options where appropriate. In addition, funding mechanisms are changing to give the Council an opportunity to

- influence its income levels through additional business rates etc. The need to invest to maintain / grow funding levels will also be considered as part of this process.
- Cheshire East Council's financial management arrangements comply with the governance arrangements of <u>CIPFA's Statement on The Role of the Chief Financial</u> Officer in Local Government (2010).
- The Chief Financial Officer plays a key role in business planning process, providing regular updates to Cabinet and Scrutiny Committees on financial scenario and budgetary position, including capital programme and treasury management.
- Robustness of budget estimates is reviewed by the Chief Financial Officer as part of the Business Planning process. Quarterly financial updates ensure that budget variances are identified, reported and addressed through remedial action in order to minimise any unplanned call on balances. Delivery of significant budget changes are risk assessed and tracked on a monthly basis.
- There are a number of areas e.g. Adult Social Care, ICT Shared Service where overspends have been identified and mitigating actions introduced. Further actions are ongoing and detailed in the Action Plan at Appendix 1.
- The Council has approved a <u>Treasury Management Policy and Strategy for 2012-15</u>, however there is a need to develop Treasury Management Practice Statements which will document the processes used for business continuity purposes, elaborate upon the risk management strategies required and clarify the responsibilities for decision making.
- The Council has approved a <u>5 year Carbon Management Plan</u> which includes a clear baseline position and targets for improvement. There is a Programme Management Board in place chaired by a member of CMT and clear plans to deliver the priorities and actions identified.

Principle 2 Members and Officers working together to achieve a common purpose with clearly defined functions and roles

- 2.1 Ensuring effective leadership throughout the authority and being clear about executive and non-executive functions and of the roles and responsibilities of the scrutiny function
 - The Scrutiny Chairs Group has been formally recognised in the Council's Constitution. The role of this group is to drive the work of the Overview and Scrutiny Functions, monitoring progress and workloads, as well as acting as a sounding board for matters of common interest across all overview and scrutiny committees, including new legislation and best practice.

- The Council appointed a Joint Member Working Group to investigate all available options to review governance arrangements under the Localism Act 2011. The proposed governance option agreed by Council in May 2012 continues the arrangements of the existing leader and cabinet model although with two Overview and Scrutiny Committees (instead of six) and up to nine new cross-party policy groups, aligned to the Cabinet.
- Delegated Decisions by Officers are recorded in Departmental Registers. During 2011-12 there were concerns expressed by Officers regarding the content and timeliness of a number of Delegated Decisions to waive Finance and Contract Procedure Rules. A revised procedure whereby all such Delegated Decisions would go to Corporate Management Team for approval was subsequently introduced in May 2012.

2.2 Ensuring that a constructive working relationship exists between authority members and officers and that the responsibilities of members and officers are carried out to a high standard

- The Council <u>elected a new Leader</u>, Cllr Michael Jones at the Annual Council in May 2012. New working relationships will need to be developed between the Leader and the Chief Executive.
- The Council's Chief Executive is currently absent from work for a significant period due to ill health. In her absence, key duties have been covered by the Strategic Directors, and approval by Council has been given to the appointment of an interim Chief Executive, should it become necessary.
- During 2011/12, Finance and Contract Procedure Rules were <u>revised</u> and updated to reflect changes to the Officer Scheme of Delegation, <u>national best practice</u> <u>recommendations</u>, changes to the way the Council operates and to improve alignment to other parts of the Constitution.

2.3 Ensuring relationships between the authority, its partners and the public are clear so that each knows what to expect of the other

- The Council established a new <u>Independent Remuneration panel</u>, which will recommend the annual remuneration for Members.
- In line with the requirements of the Localism Act 2011, the Council published a <u>Pay Policy Statement</u>, outlining the Council's policy on all elements of pay and reward for Chief Officers and Deputy Chief Officers.
- Harmonisation of staff pay and conditions was achieved with effect from 1st November 2011, via a collective agreement with the Trade Unions. Officer terms and conditions are clearly set out and the full set of harmonised policies and procedures is available online to staff.

- The performance reporting framework has been developed and now covers monthly performance reports against the Service/Business plan made to informal Cabinet, quarterly reporting, quarterly challenge discussion between the Chief Executive, Leader, relevant Portfolio Holder and Director. Staff performance has been monitored against agreed objectives which link to team plans, through to the corporate priorities. A new Performance Development framework will be used in 2012/13.
- The Business Planning process is being used to demonstrate how resources will be matched against delivering the priorities outlined in "Ambition for All" and this has also been agreed by the PACE (Partnerships for Action in Cheshire East) Board.

Principle 3 Promoting values for the authority and demonstrating values of good governances through upholding high standards of conduct and behaviour

3.1 Ensuring Council Members and Officers exercise leadership by behaving in ways that exemplify high standards of conduct and effective governance

- Member reports are generally open to the public, unless the Borough Solicitor authorises exemption on an exceptional basis, in accordance with <u>Access to Information Rules</u> as described in the Constitution. Meeting agendas contain public speaking and questions. The Council has in place provisions for <u>petitions and e-petitions</u>.
- The Localism Act 2011 requires the council to adopt a new Code of Conduct and to have in place a process for investigating alleged breaches of the Code. The deadline for compliance is 1 July 2012, although regulations under the Act are still awaited.
- Members have received training and advice on bias and conflicts of interest, reinforced by protocols, the Code of Conduct for members and officers, and financial regulations. Departmental registers are maintained for officer conflicts and hospitality. Members register their interests, including hospitality. The Council has a Whistle-Blowing policy, which is communicated to staff and available on the website and within the Constitution.
- The Employee Code of Conduct has been reviewed and updated and clearly sets out responsibilities and expectations for Officers. It is due to be reissued to all staff with their revised statement of particulars in *June 2012*.

3.2 Ensuring that organisational values are put into practice and are effective

- The Council has recently reviewed it's ASPIRE values and is embarking on a programme of corporate improvements (known as "from Good to Great").
- The Council's Business Management Review has identified 'corporate process owners', responsible for leading the development of key financial processes/systems, including dissemination of best practice and compliance. Finance

Procedure Rules set out a clear framework of financial control/accountabilities and an updated version was agreed by Council in February 2012.

- The Anti-Fraud & Corruption Strategy, Confidential Reporting Procedure (Whistleblowing policy), Complaints Procedure, and Money-Laundering Policy provide the framework for identification and reporting of financial irregularities and potential control breaches. Disclosure statements from managers require the reporting of any suspected breaches of financial control/irregularity. The risk of financial loss due to unplanned expenditure arising from breaches of financial control is recognised in the corporate risk register and kept under continual review.
- The Standards Board for England was formally abolished on 21st March 2012 and Cheshire East Council's Standards Committee will be abolished on 1st July, 2012. Under the Localism Act, the Council had the option to set up a 'voluntary' Standards Committee or sub-committee with delegated powers to deal with Standards issues. It has been agreed that the Audit & Governance Committee establishes this sub-committee, once a new Code of Conduct is adopted. A further report is due to go to Council in July.
- All officer reports to Committee follow a mandatory template which indicates how recommendations take into account relevant policy and statutory obligations.

Principle 4 Taking informed and transparent decisions which are subject to effective scrutiny and managing risk

4.1 Being rigorous and transparent about how decisions are taken and listening and acting on the outcome of constructive scrutiny

- Scrutiny is supported by a dedicated team. Each Chair has regular briefings with individual <u>Portfolio Holders</u> and <u>Service Heads</u> which ensures that the work programmes compliment corporate priorities. Individual work programmes items are aligned to the Business Plan.
- A sixth Scrutiny Committee was added to the structure in 2011/12 to focus on health and wellbeing matters in preparation for the introduction of the Health and Wellbeing Board in 2013. This also provided an opportunity to create a dedicated Adult Social Scrutiny committee to give extra focus on that area of the Council's function. Changes to the scrutiny arrangements have been covered in 2.1.
- Internal Audit reports are submitted to management for comment and formal response. Towards the end of 2011/12, Internal Audit introduced a new Reporting Protocol, including a formal Audit Opinion for each audit with a follow-up procedure linked to this opinion.
- Internal Audit now report directly to the CFO, with a reporting line to the Chief Executive as well. The Audit and Governance Committee receive regular updates on Internal Audit work plans and key findings.

- Although the Head of Internal Audit post was vacant during 2011/12, appointment to this post is now being progressed. Collaboration opportunities with neighbouring authorities/public sector partners are being pursued through Cheshire & Warrington Sub-Programme Office.
- The Council maintains registers of interests and hospitality, as specified in <u>Finance</u> and <u>Contract Procedure Rules</u>. Training is given to members and officers periodically.
 Agendas for member meetings contain specific reminders and explanation for the declaration of interests.
- The Council has established an Audit and Governance Committee supported by the Director of Finance and Business Services. The Constitution sets out the Terms of Reference and these follow the CIPFA model guidance. The number of members has been formally agreed and the number is such that should any conflict of issues arise this would be declared and there is no risk to the independent or effective decision making within this Committee. The CFO attends meeting of the Audit & Governance Committee in person. Regular monthly liaison meetings between CFO and Audit Commission leads, plus ad-hoc meetings on specific issues, are held as required.
- During 2011/12, five specialist Member/Officer groups were set up, each covering a specific area of audit and governance work, and made up of a small number of Members and relevant Officers. These were set up to help develop in depth knowledge and expertise amongst Audit & Governance Committee Members with the aim of improving the effectiveness of the Committee and building up good working relationships between Members and Officers.
- Under the Council's <u>Corporate Complaints procedure</u>, described in 1.2, complainants are advised in stage 2 responses of their right to appeal to the Local Government Ombudsman if they are still dissatisfied.

4.2 Having good quality information, advice and support to ensure that services are delivered effectively and are what the community wants/needs

- Significant investment has been made during the year to improve the financial management information available to managers. This has been delivered through a self-serve Financial Reporting Centre. Further investment in the financial accounting systems has been provided for in the medium term capital strategy.
- Committee report authors are required to complete a co-ordination sheet recording the 'sign off' of the report from Legal and Finance. Reports must also contain the legal and financial implications, either written or approved by the relevant department.
- Committee decision reports with material financial implications have to be cleared by the CFO, who also attends all CMT, Cabinet and Council Meetings and meets regularly with the Finance Portfolio holder.

 A <u>Citizen's Panel</u> has been set up in 2011/12 and the results of the first survey used to set service plans for 2012/13.

4.3 Ensuring that an effective risk management system is in place

- There is a <u>Risk Management Strategy</u> in place with a Corporate Risk Management Group chaired by the Portfolio holder. Risk assessments are required on all Cabinet and CMT reports. The process for risk management has been reviewed and improved in 2011/12 with the continued development of the process and clearer links to the service plan, business continuity and decision making.
- Corporate risks have been regularly discussed and reviewed with Cabinet and CMT, and update reports have gone to every Audit and Governance Committee. Training has been carried out for key staff and members as well as a number of workshops for key departments.
- Audit & Governance Committee receive regular updates on progress against the Annual Governance Statement action plan. Finance Procedure Rules set out comprehensive and robust financial management framework and principles.
- Findings in key system reviews carried out by Internal Audit during 2011/12 found that some processes and procedures supporting key Council policies required improvements e.g. local schemes of financial delegation. Actions are underway to address these issues (see Appendix 1).
- The Whistleblowing Policy complies with best practice as detailed in the Whistleblowing Code of Practice Publically Available Specification. All concerns received via the Policy are logged and tested out prior to a decision being made as to the appropriate action to be taken. The Audit and Governance Committee Fraud Sub Group receives verbal briefings on relevant cases and the full Committee is provided with more general updates as part of Internal Audit update reports.

4.4 Using their legal powers to the full benefit of the citizens and communities in their area

- The Monitoring Officer fulfils the statutory role with the help of the Legal team, who are involved in preparing reports and advising departments. The Constitution underlines this role, which is further enhanced by membership of CMT and close working with the Executive. External legal advice is sought as appropriate.
- The Monitoring Officer and Legal Team are proactive in ensuring advice is given on relevant legislation and ensuring the principles of natural justice and good administrative law are recognised and observed.

Principle 5 Developing the capacity and capability of members and officers to be effective

5.1 Making sure that members and officers have the skills, knowledge, experience and resources they need to perform well in their roles

- Members receive individual induction and access to a comprehensive member training programme. Members receive a formal induction every 4 years with the last one being in May 2011. Any member who is new to a committee or taking on a new role is offered an induction and any training required.
- Workforce development plans are developed each year both at a Corporate level and a service level as an integral part of the business planning process. Individual development plans are also identified as part of the performance appraisal process and linked to objectives. A corporate induction programme is in place and all new starters are required to attend. A 'Management' Induction programme continues to be developed for Council managers and a new development programme for supervisors / first line managers will be launched in June 2012.
- A full set of Members job descriptions and person specifications are in place. All Statutory Officers have clear job descriptions and person specifications which state the necessary experience, skills and qualifications required to perform in the role. This is supported by the Corporate Training Programme; Corporate Governance has been identified as part of this. Briefings take place around the Council's Constitution, Finance Procedure Rules and Risk Management.
- The CFO is professionally qualified with extensive local government experience. The Finance team is extremely qualified and experienced and appropriately resourced, given the wider budgetary constraints facing the Council. Changes to team structure have been made to address capacity issues and facilitate more flexible working and skills pooling.
- The Council was issued with a monetary penalty notice in February 2012 by the Information Commissioner's Office (ICO) for a breach of the Data Protection Act. The Council had reported the breach in May 2011. A number of improvements to processes have been implemented as part of the undertaking agreed with the ICO and to enhance procedures where possible. (See Section 3)

5.2 Developing the capability of people with governance responsibilities and evaluating their performance, as individuals and as a group

• Annual development and appraisals are delivered within groups. Skills assessment is an important part of the performance appraisal process and individual development plans are developed as part of these discussions. This includes 6 monthly reviews as well as monthly one to one sessions. The new Behaviour/ Competency Framework will assist managers in identifying specific skills gaps to inform the development plans. The ASPIRE shared values continue to be embedded within the appraisal process and these, along with the six key behaviours are priority areas for development.

- Further work is needed to develop the competence frameworks, which include financial knowledge and skills and to systematically embed these in person specifications and individual performance appraisal. Recent changes to Corporate Personal Development framework, which includes increased focus on 'Managing Resources' will provide an opportunity to pursue this. Investment in e-learning tools will extend the range of training offerings for officers and Members during 2012/13.
- Challenges remain in respect of developing Member roles and financial skills. The establishment by the Audit and Governance Committee, of Member task groups to provide a more focused channel for development input is offering some potential for progress.
- 5.3 Encouraging new talent for membership of the authority so that best use can be made of individuals' skills and resources in balancing continuity and renewal
 - Active steps are taken to encourage new members at Citizenship ceremonies. Community participation is actively promoted through Local Area Partnerships and, joint working with parishes. There are also events held e.g. Local Democracy Week where Councillors visited schools. The membership of the PACE Board is kept under regular review.
 - Annual development and appraisals are delivered within groups. Portfolio Holders are supported by Cabinet Support Assistants who learn and become familiar with Portfolio Holder responsibilities.
 - Succession planning takes place at a local/service level and is integrated into the Workforce Planning framework. A formal corporate framework for succession planning is to be developed during 2012/13. Members participate in regular learning and development activity and there is succession planning within the Cabinet where there have been several changes to its composition over the last year and cabinet support members introduced to act as back up for existing portfolio holders.

Principle 6 Engaging with local people and other stakeholders to ensure robust public accountability

- 6.1 Exercising leadership through a robust scrutiny function, which effectively engages local people and all local institutional stakeholders, including partnerships, and develops constructive accountability relationships
 - In addition to the Council's Constitution and scrutiny toolkit, the use of social media has been developed to widen Scrutiny's reach and to improve two way communications with the public, through the use of Twitter, Chairman's blogs and by updating the Council's web pages.

The <u>Health and Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee</u> has developed good working relationships with health partners and has an existing protocol in place with the PCT. This is under discussion so it can be revised to reflect the new role of the Clinical Commissioning Groups. Health partners understand the scrutiny process and regularly attend meetings. The Committee has started to look at how it will work with the Health and Wellbeing Board.

6.2 Taking an active and planned approach to dialogue with and accountability to the public to ensure effective and appropriate service delivery whether directly by the Council, in partnership or by commissioning

- A <u>Citizen's Panel</u> has been set up in 2011/12 and the results of the first survey used to set service plans for 2012/13. There is a Communications team plan and this covers the main methods of corporate communication with the public supported by communications in individual departments.
- Most meetings are held in public, using the public interest criteria in the Access to Information Rules. The status of sub-committees and working parties is critically reviewed to ensure that public access if given wherever appropriate.
- There are a variety of communication methods adopted which are targeted at particular audiences. For example, there is a <u>Council newspaper</u> giving overall updates and key messages, there is a very active media team producing proactive <u>press releases</u>. The <u>consultation</u> exercises previously referred to are sometimes general e.g. quality of life and sometimes specific e.g. Highways annual survey. In addition work takes place with particular groups within our differing communities through the community engagement team; the migration impact fund, gypsy and traveller focus and through LAP area working
- Processes are in place to ensure effective management of <u>FOI</u>, media relations and a culture of openness. A revised complaints and suggestions procedure has been put in place, formal consultation with the public has taken place on key areas during 2011/12, and a <u>Citizen's Panel</u> has been launched and one full survey undertaken in 2011/12. This is continuing into 2012/13 and the panel will be regularly refreshed.
- Regular reports on <u>FOI</u> are received by the Audit and Governance Committee and there is a new transparency process which was approved by CMT in April 2011. Significant FOI issues are raised on a weekly basis at informal cabinet and cabinet take an active interest in ensuring that we comply with our statutory requirements.
- The Council's <u>website</u> received the highest possible rating in the annual <u>SOCITM</u> survey which rates accessibility and customer focus of the website; Cheshire East was one of only three unitary councils to gain this score nationally.

6.3 Making best use of human resources by taking an active and planned approach to meet responsibility to staff

- There is a clear commitment from the Council to involve and consult with the recognised Trade Unions on all key decisions affecting employees and, as a result of fulfilling this commitment successfully, the Council has forged strong and positive relationships with all of the recognised Trade Unions. There is Trade Union representation at the Council's quarterly Staffing Committee, providing an opportunity to discuss issues directly with Members and senior officers.
- The Council has a People Panel in place which comprises of employees from across the service areas. The panel focus on key 'people' initiatives such as the employee survey action plans, employee recognition schemes, communication and involvement in decision making etc. The panel, which complements the directorate specific employee focus groups plays a key role in influencing key decisions and policies aimed at improving and strengthening employee engagement.



Section 3 Significant governance issues and Action Plan

As a result of the review of effectiveness process described above, the Council's Governance Framework is considered adequate.

There are a number of issues that require action and development. These are listed below:

- Awareness and compliance with Council processes/procedures
- Issues and actions arising from Lyme Green
- Empower Card Review
- Care Provider Failure
- Judicial Review
- Financial Management
- Shared Services SLE
- Data Protection breach

We propose over the coming year to take steps to address the above matters to further enhance our governance arrangements. A detailed Action Plan is included as Appendix 1. We are satisfied that these steps will address the need for improvements that were identified in our review of effectiveness and will monitor their implementation and operation as part of our next annual review.

Signed:					
Leading Member 8	& Chief Exe	cutive on	behalf of Cheshi	ire East Cou	ncil

